RECEIVED

07-19-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Case No. 2013 AP 634-CR

JIMMIE G. MINETT,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND THE DENIAL OF A POSTCONVICTION MOTION, ENTERED AND DECIDED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WALWORTH COUNTY, THE HONOROBLE JAMES L. CARLSON, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MAAYAN SILVER Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1052569

Silver Law Offices, LLC 2929 W. Highland Blvd. Milwaukee, WI 53208 Telephone (414) 336-1446

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Issues Presented

1. Did the Trial Court erroneously deny Mr. Minett's Motion to Suppress Fruits of Illegal Strip Search?

The trial court ruled that the motion should be denied.

2. Did the Trial Court erroneously deny Mr. Minett's postconviction motion for resentencing?

The trial court ruled that the sentence was not excessive or based on irrelevant factors.

Position on Oral Argument and Publication

The appellant leaves the possibility for oral argument up to the court, unless pursuant to Rule 809.22(b), Wis. Stats, the court finds that the briefs sufficiently purse the arguments. The appellant does not think that any of the restrictions on oral argument presented in Rule 809.22(a), Wis. Stats. apply in this case.

The appellant suggests that there be publication of the decision as, per Rule 809.32(1)(a)(1) and (3), the decision will enunciate a new rule of law and resolve or identify a conflict between prior decisions. The decision may, pursuant to Rule 809.32(1)(a)(4) and (5), contribute to legal literature by reciting legislative history and be relevant to public interest, or certainly the interest of detained persons subject to strip searches. Additionally, the appellant asserts that none of the restrictions to publication under Rule 809.32(1)(b) apply.

Statement of the Case

On March 1, 2010, Jimmie Minett was charged with counts one, two and three: delivery of heroin, less than three grams, as a second or subsequent offense, contrary to Wisconsin Statutes §§ 961.41(1)(d)1 and 961.48(1)(b); count four: possession with intent to deliver cocaine, less than five grams, as a second or subsequent offense, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 961.41(1m)(cm)1r and 961.48(1)(b); and count five, possession of narcotic drugs as a second or subsequent offense, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 961.41(3g)(am) and 961.48(1)(b). (R2:1-2). According to the complaint, on February 17, 18 and 22, 2010, officers from the City of Whitewater Police Department conducted three separate controlled buys of heroin using a confidential informant (CI).

Id. at 3. On February 17, 2010, Officers followed the CI from 1069 W. Main Street to 477 N. Fremont Street to buy heroin. *Id.* Upon the CI's return, the CI possessed three bindles of heroin in exchange for \$90 given to the CI from the officers. *Id.*

On Feb. 18, 2010, the CI conducted another controlled buy with Mr. Minett at the Five Points BP Gas Station. *Id.* On February 22, 2010, the CI was involved in another controlled buy with Mr. Minett at Hawk Bowl Apartments in Whitewater. *Id.* On that same day, officers arrested Mr. Minett at a traffic stop on W. Walworth Ave. *Id.* Upon strip searching Mr. Minett at the police department, officers extricated 15 gem bags of crack cocaine and 1.2 grams of heroin from his buttocks, along with \$221. *Id.* at 3-4.

During all these incidents the suspected drugs were tested and tested positive for heroin, crack cocaine and narcotics, respectfully. *Id.* at 4.

On September 4, 2010, Mr. Minett filed a motion challenging the strip search in his case which discovered the cocaine and the narcotics on his person as unlawful. R18-20. On that same day, he also filed a motion challenging the search of his cell phone which was found in the strip search as unlawful. R21-22. These motions were argued on September 23, 2010, and the court denied both motions. R66:114-130.

Mr. Minett pleaded guilty on February 17, 2011 to counts one (delivery of heroin less than three grams as a second or subsequent) and count four (possession with intent to deliver cocaine, less than five grams, as a second or subsequent offense). R69. The defense filed a presentence investigation on May 25, 2011, and the State filed a sentencing memorandum on May 31, 2011. R37, R38. The

trial court sentenced Mr. Minett on May 31, 2011, R70, to ten years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision on count one and a withheld sentence imposed and stayed for seven and a half years of consecutive probation on count four. R42. He was found eligible for the Earned Release Program and ineligible for the Challenge Incarceration Program. *Id.* He was granted 463 days of credit after having sat for the pendency of the case on bail. *Id.* Mr. Minett filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief on June 6, 2011. R43. Mr. Minett filed a postconviction motion challenging the sentencing decision on October 29, 2012. R51. The motion was argued on December 11, 2012 and denied on December 17, 2012. R73, R52.

Mr. Minett timely filed a no merit notice of appeal on March 15, 2013¹. R55.

Statement of Facts

On February 22, 2010, Sergeant-then-Detective Brian Uhl was part of an investigation of the Whitewater Police Department involving a confidential informant and controlled buys from Jimmie Minett. R66:13-15. Det. Uhl had information from the CI that Mr. Minett, upon arrest, was concealing drugs in his genital area. *Id.* Det. Uhl testified that he received permission for a strip search of Mr. Minett from Sergeant Ciardo. *Id.* at 15-16. Sgt. Ciardo testified later that he had authority, which was granted from the sergeant level up the hierarchy of chain of command, to grant the go ahead for strip searches. *Id.* at 55-56. He testified that this grant of authority was given orally and not in writing. *Id.* at 55 (lines 6-7). There was a strip search report form generated by the Whitewater Police Department. *Id.* at 17. Officers testified

7

_

¹ The no merit notice of appeal was later converted to a notice of appeal in the Court of Appeals' order dated April 29, 2013 based on Mr. Minett's request.

that they did not see anyone hand a copy of this strip search report to Mr. Minett. *Id.* at 57, 72.

Mr. Minett filed a suppression motion at the trial level, arguing three violations: that Whitewater Police Officers strip searched Mr. Minett in the booking room while an additional detective watched, that the officers did not get written authorization, and that a strip search report was not provided to Mr. Minett per Wis. Stat. § 968.255. R19:1-2.

In the memorandum in support of the motion to suppress, Mr. Minett asserted that suppression was an appropriate remedy for the violation of Wis. Stat. § 968.255(2) despite the fact that the statute did not expressly provide for suppression under *State v. Popenhagen*, 2008 WI 55, ¶¶65-68, 309 Wis. 2d 601, 632, 749 N.W.2d 611. Under *Popenhagen*, a Circuit court has discretion to suppress or allow evidence obtained in violation of a statute that does not specifically require suppression of evidence obtained contrary to the statute, depending on the facts and circumstances of the case and the objectives of the statute. *Id.* at ¶68. (See R20).

As mentioned *supra*, the trial court held a motion hearing on this issue September 23, 2010. R66. Sergeant Brian Uhl, Sergeant Michael Ciardo, and Officer Timothy Swartz testified, along with Detective Sergeant Tina Winger on a separate issue. *Id.* As mentioned *supra*, Sgt. Uhl testified that as part of his investigation with other officers, he learned from the CI that Mr. Minett had concealed drugs in his genital area, underneath his testicles or possibly in his buttocks area. *Id.* at 14-15. Sgt. Uhl admitted that he needed permission to start a strip search, which he orally received from Sgt. Ciardo. *Id.* at 15-16. He testified that he actively participated in the search of Mr. Minett by searching clothing as it was being removed from Mr. Minett. *Id.* at 17. Officer Timothy Swartz later testified as to Exhibit 4, a report that he drafted regarding this strip search. *Id.* at 71. He testified that he had

been trained in writing reports and that in the report, he had written that, "Sergeant Ciardo and I conducted a strip search in the booking room, interview room with Detective Uhl witnessing." *Id.*, R26. He indicated that he understood that there was a difference between conducting a search and witnessing a search. *Id.* He also testified that it was not in his report that Det. Uhl conducted a visual inspection of Mr. Minett. *Id.* at 72.

Sergeant Ciardo testified that he had filled out a strip search report, which was marked as State's Exhibit 1. Id., R26. The form indicated who was being searched, who was conducting the search. R66:48. He testified that as Mr. Minett's clothing was being stripped away, Mr. Minett asked Sgt. Ciardo if he could remove the drugs from his person, upon which he pulled down his underwear and retrieved a baggy of white material. Id. at 52. He testified that in the police department, a sergeant up through the higher channels of authority can approve of a strip search. Id. at 54-55. Sgt. Ciardo testified that he was authorized to authorize strip searches. Id. at 56-57. He also indicated that he did not observe Det. Uhl or any other officer hand a copy of the strip search report to Mr. Minett. *Id.* at 57. Officer Swartz testified that he did not hand Mr. Minett a copy of the strip search report nor did he observe any other officers do that. *Id.* at 72. Sgt. Ciardo admitted that State's Exhibit 3: the Department's strip search policy documented that "strip searches shall be conducted in strict compliance with state statute 968.255." *Id.* at 58-59.

The State argued that Mr. Minett had received a copy of the strip search report. *Id.* at 102. The court queried if it was necessary that a detainee receive a copy of the report before he was being searched. *Id.* at 102-103. The state and the defense differed on this point: the state arguing that the statute,

...doesn't say you have to give it to him [defendant] at the time. It says you have to provide the defendant a copy. And the testimony was that they put that form in evidence or with the case file and that case file was turned over to the Das office as part of discovery. Now as part of discovery, that all gets turned over to the defendant. This defendant, his defense attorney provided Your Honor with the copy that they received.

Id. at 103.

The court evaluated this argument, commenting that the state was basically admitting that it didn't give Mr. Minett a copy of the report until the discovery was provided. *Id.* Upon hearing this, the defense posited that the plain meaning of the statute was that:

the person conducting the search must give him [detainee] the report, not the DA six months later or not that it will be kept in the file somewhere. A person conducting the search shall provide him with the report.

Id.

The defense continued, aptly, that, "there would be no reason for that law if it was part of Sub. (d); the legislature would have never put it in there." *Id.* at 104.

The state countered that if the legislature wanted the report to be given immediately to the detainee, "it would say, and provide a copy immediately to the defendant." *Id*.

The court summarized the state's argument as "he [ADA] thinks [the strip search] is in compliance with the statute, and he says even if it is technically not, the minor technicalities are not grounds for suppression." *Id.* at 107. The defense contended that (1) on the contrary, the statute was very clear that a strip search cannot occur until all requirements of the statute were met (thereby debunking the "hypertechnical" arguments of the state); (2) its only logical that the legislature intended "providing a copy of the report"

to the detainee as before the search; and (3) suppression was an appropriate remedy as suppression would advance the objectives of the statute to restrict police power and punish unlawful abuses of police power. *Id.* at 108-112.

The court ruled on the motion that there was,

'substantial compliance' with the statute, and I think the district attorney says 'hyper-technical.' You could say that they didn't give [Mr. Minett] a copy, and you could say that it, the written authorization by the chief was not attached. There was testimony he had the, I believe he said it was given to him orally; the right to do strip searches. I think there is substantial compliance with the statute. And any technical violations are clearly not a constitutional violation of his rights or a substantial violation of the statute. . . they obviously are intending to comply with it. They have a ---they have an administrative rule and, apparently, they have been using this for some time...

Id. at 114-115.

Argument

I. The Trial Court Erroneously Denied Mr. Minett's Motion to Suppress Evidence as a Result of an Illegal Strip Search

a. Standard of Review

The court of appeals reviews a motion to suppress under two prong analysis. *State v. Felix*, 2012 WI 36, 339 Wis. 2d 670, 685, 811 N.W.2d 775, 782-83. First, the court of appeals will review the circuit court's findings of historical fact, and the court will uphold them unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Second, the court reviews the application of constitutional principles to those facts de novo. *Id.* The court of appeals independently reviews whether the police conduct

violated the defendant's constitutional rights to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. *Id.*

b. Statutory Violation at Issue

Mr. Minett does not argue that the Whitewater Police Department lacked probable cause to conduct a strip search at the police station on February 22, 2010. Mr. Minett argues that while there was sufficient probable cause for a search because the officers had information from the CI that Mr. Minett had drugs hidden in his genital area, R66:13-15, the search was conducted in violation of Wis. Stats. § 968.255 and that the exclusionary rule is the proper remedy for such a statutory violation. Specifically, Mr. Minett argues that (1) Det. Uhl was present without participating in the search, (2) there was no written authorization for the search, and (3) the written authorization and the strip search report generated were not given to Mr. Minett before the search, all in violation of Wis. Stat. § 968.255.Wis. Stats. § 968.255(2) establishes that:

- (2) No person may be the subject of a strip search unless he or she is a detained person and if:
- (a) The person conducting the search is of the same sex as the person detained, unless the search is a body cavity search conducted under sub. (3);
- (b) The detained person is not exposed to the view of any person not conducting the search;
- (c) The search is not reproduced through a visual or sound recording;
- (d) A person conducting the search has obtained the prior written permission of the chief, sheriff or law enforcement administrator of the jurisdiction where the person is detained, or his or her designee, unless there is probable cause to believe that the detained person is concealing a weapon; and
- (e) A person conducting the search prepares a report identifying the person detained, all persons conducting the search, the time, date and place of the search and the written authorization required by par. (d), and provides a copy of the report to the person detained.

- (4) A person who intentionally violates this section may be fined not more than \$1,000 or imprisoned not more than 90 days or both.
- (5) This section does not limit the rights of any person to civil damages or injunctive relief.
- (6) A law enforcement agency, as defined in s. 165.83(1)(b), may promulgate rules concerning strip searches which at least meet the minimum requirements of this section

c. The Trial Court Erroneously Found "Substantial Compliance" with Wis. Stat. § 968.255

Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. State v. Peters, 2003 WI 88, 263 Wis. 2d 475, 481-82, 665 N.W.2d 171, 174, citing State v. Setagord, 211 Wis.2d 397, 406, 565 N.W.2d 506 (1997). If the language of a statute is clear on its face, the court need not look any further than the statutory text to determine the statute's meaning. Id., citing Bruno v. Milwaukee County, 2003 WI 28, ¶¶ 18–22, 260 Wis.2d 633, 660 N.W.2d 656. "When a statute unambiguously expresses the intent of the legislature, the court apply that meaning without resorting to extrinsic sources" of legislative intent. *Id.* citing *State ex rel. Cramer v.* Wis. Ct.App., 2000 WI 86, ¶ 18, 236 Wis.2d 473, 613 N.W.2d 591. Statutory language is given its common, ordinary and accepted meaning. *Id.* citing *Bruno*, 260 Wis.2d 633, ¶ 20, 660 N.W.2d 656. Rules of statutory construction are inapplicable if the language of the statute has a plain and reasonable meaning on its face. *Id.* at 406–09, 259 N.W.2d 97 (holding that canons of construction, including ejusdem generis, are inapplicable when the statute is clear on its face).

The intent was clear from Wis. Stat. § 968.255 that NO PERSON may be the subject of a strip search UNLESS he is a detained person AND if the person conducting the search

has obtained written permission of the chief, sheriff or law enforcement administrator AND if the person conducting the search prepares a report containing this written authorization and provides a copy of the report to the detainee. This statute had not changed regarding those terms since the onset of the statute in 1980. See Appendix at149-150, (Assembly Bill 744, Chapter 240, (1979-1980) Leg., Reg Session. (Wis. 1980)).

The State's argument that the statute does not specify when the report must be given to the detainee, and therefore, since the detainee was charged with a crime and then received the report through the discovery process weeks or months later, there is compliance with the statute *does not hold water*.

The discovery statute in criminal proceedings indicates that, upon demand, the district attorney shall, within a reasonable time before trial, disclose to the defendant or his/her attorney a copy or give an opportunity to inspect a list of materials, including (a) any written or recorded statement made by the defendant about the crime (b) all defendant's oral statements and witnesses to oral statements (bm) evidence obtained under Wis. Stats. § 968.31(2)(b), (c) a copy of defendant's criminal record, (d) a list of all witnesses, (e) any relevant recorded or written statements by witnesses the state intends to use, (f) the criminal record of prosecution witnesses and (g) any physical evidence or (h) any exculpatory evidence. Wis. Stat. Ann. § 971.23. The strip search report is not included in this statute.

Additionally, the strip search statute relates to "detainees" and not "defendants." An individual who is a detainee may never become a defendant. Therefore, when the statute directs that the *person detained* receive a copy of the strip search report, it is clear that it intends that the report be provided *before or during the strip search*, while the person is *detained*, and unrelated to the charging process which will in turn spark the discovery statute once the detainee is charged

with a crime. Getting the report is a precondition to being searched. It flies in the face of logic to think that as long as the detainee receives the report eventually through the discovery process that the strip search statute is being complied with, as the prosecutor argued during the motion hearing. It also obviously means that the police department must give a copy of the report and written authorization to the person detained *before the search* because this is the only time that the detainee will be certainly a detainee. The statute explicitly writes, "a person conducting the search prepares a report...and provides a copy of the report to the person detained." Wis. Stats. § 986.255(2)(e). This person may not presumably be detained for another 48 hours, for another two weeks, for another four months: the only certain timing of their detention is before the strip search.

Additionally, the trial court seemed to imply that "substantial compliance" with the strip search statute was enough in this case. R66:114-115. In fact, the statute is written in the absolute that "NO PERSON may be the subject of a strip search UNLESS he or she is a detained person" AND if...(d) the person conducting the search has obtained prior written authorization... and (e) a report is prepared including the written authorization and is provided to the detainee. Additionally, the statute provides that a law enforcement agency may promulgate rules concerning strip searches which at least meet the minimum requirements of the statute. Wis. Stat. § 968.255(6). Therefore, the legislature made clear its seriousness about the requirements of the statute.

d. Suppression Should Be The Remedy for a Violation of Wis. Stat. § 968.255

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