# RECEIVED

09-19-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2013AP634-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JIMMIE G. MINETT,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND FROM AN ORDER DENYING RESENTENCING, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JAMES L. CARLSON PRESIDING

# BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

MARGUERITE M. MOELLER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1017389

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

While Minett has failed to cite a single case that supports his claimed entitlement to suppression, the State has found several cases from sister states that reject suppression as a remedy for the types of violations that occurred here.

In Jenkins v. State, 978 So. 2d 116 (Fla. 2008), the Florida Supreme Court held that suppression was not an available remedy for two violations of that state's stripsearch statute. One of the violations was similar in nature to one of the violations asserted here: the failure to obtain written authorization from the supervising officer on duty before conducting the strip search. *Id.* at 120. Although the Florida courts agree with the *Popenhagen* court that suppression can be an appropriate remedy even where it is not prescribed in a given statute, *see id.*, the *Jenkins* court found that the legislature's specification of civil and injunctive remedies for violations of the statute made suppression inappropriate. *Id.* at 130.

In a case on all fours with ours, the Ohio Court of Appeals in *State v. Freeman*, No. 1999CA00131, 2000 WL 222036 (Ohio App. Feb. 7, 2000) (R-Ap. 101-03),

rejected the defendant's contention that two violations of the strip-search statute warranted suppression of evidence obtained during the search. The two violations were the failure to obtain written authorization for the search before it was conducted and to give a copy of the strip-search report to the defendant. *Id.* at \*1 (R-Ap. 101). The appellate court upheld the trial court's determination that these were technical violations that did not minimize or weaken the existence of probable cause to believe the defendant was concealing drugs in her vagina. *Id.* at \*2 (R-Ap. 102).

In *State v. Harris*, 833 P.2d 402, 406 (Wash. App. 1992), the court held that suppression was not an appropriate remedy for an officer's failure to obtain prior *written* approval from his supervisor before conducting a strip search of Harris. The court provided the following rationale: "The purpose of the statutory requirement is to provide proof the officer consulted his or her supervisor and obtained permission to conduct the search. The lack of *written* approval does not invalidate other proof, in the form of oral testimony, that such permission was obtained."

Similar to the above cases, the California court in *People v. Wade*, 256 Cal. Rptr. 189 (Cal. Ct. App. 1989), found that two violations of the state statute governing visual body cavity searches did not warrant suppression of the evidence obtained in the search. One of the violations in *Wade* was the failure to obtain written authorization of the supervising officer on duty prior to conducting the search. *Id.* at 191. Like § 968.255(4), the California statute made it a misdemeanor to knowingly violate the strip-search law and provided civil remedies for any person harmed by such violation. Partly in light of these specific remedies contained in the statute, the *Wade* court found that exclusion of the evidence was unwarranted. *Id.* at 192.

Because suppression is not a remedy consistent with those remedies the legislature has prescribed for a violation of § 968.255(2), and because courts in sister states have found suppression an unwarranted remedy for violations of their strip-search statutes that are the same or similar to the violations here, this court should hold that even post-*Popenhagen*, suppression is not an appropriate remedy for the technical violations of the statute at issue here.

- II. THE **EXCEPTION** TO THE **GUILTY-PLEA-WAIVER** RULE FOUND IN WIS. STAT. § 971.31(10) DOES NOT APPLY TO MINETT'S CONVICTION FOR DELIVERY OF HEROIN AS A REPEATER, GIVEN THAT THE EVIDENCE OBTAINED IN THE WAS STRIP SEARCH **IRRELEVANT TO THIS COUNT.** 
  - A. The drugs found during the February 22 strip search are irrelevant to the first count to which Minett pled guilty: delivery of heroin as a repeat offender on February 17.

During the February 22, 2010 strip search being challenged on appeal, police obtained fifteen gem bags of crack cocaine and 1.2 grams of heroin that Minett removed from between his scrotum and his buttocks (2:3; 66:52).<sup>2</sup> Those drugs formed the basis for counts four and five of the complaint and information. *See* 2:2; 7:2-3.

In contrast, the drugs that underlay count one of the complaint and information were three bindles of heroin that a confidential informant purchased from Minett on February 17, 2010, during a controlled buy (2:3; 7:1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Contrary to Minett's representation at page 6 of his brief, the officers did not "extricate[]" the drugs from Minett's buttocks; Minett did so himself (66:52).

The drugs seized during the strip search of Minett are totally unrelated to the drugs he delivered during a controlled buy five days earlier. Accordingly, the drugs Minett claims should have been suppressed are irrelevant to the first count to which he pled guilty: delivery of less than three grams of heroin as a repeat offender on February 17, 2010 (69:16-17).

> B. Because the drugs obtained during the strip search are irrelevant to count one, the exception to the guilty-pleawaiver rule in § 971.31(10) does not apply to Minett's plea to that count.

In *State v. Pozo*, 198 Wis. 2d 705, 717, 544 N.W.2d 228 (Ct. App. 1995), this court determined that prior cases did not foreclose it from "affirming a trial court's refusal to suppress a statement alleged to have been taken in violation of a defendant's *Miranda* rights under circumstances where the challenged statement can have no possible impact on the defendant's plea or conviction because it is wholly irrelevant to the charge to which the plea is entered." There Pozo had been convicted of possession of marijuana within 1,000 feet of a school and bail jumping. *Id.* at 709. On appeal, he challenged on *Miranda* grounds the admission of a statement he had made to an officer, indicating that he was not working at the time of his arrest due to a back injury. *Id.* at 709, 713-14.

This court found that the statement likely was relevant to the original charges of maintaining a vehicle and a dwelling for the manufacture and delivery of controlled substances, because the statement suggested Pozo was getting money somewhere other than through gainful employment. *Id.* at 714. This court found that once those charges were dismissed and Pozo pled guilty to simple possession, "it no longer mattered whether there

was evidence suggesting that Pozo was selling drugs." *Id.* Accordingly, the trial court's refusal to suppress Pozo's statement could not have played a role in determining the outcome of a trial on the charge to which he pled guilty. *Id.* at 715. Under these circumstances, this court found that "the exception to the guilty-plea waiver rule found in § 971.31(10), STATS., is inapplicable . . . because the statement sought to be suppressed has no possible relevance to the charge of which Pozo was convicted." *Id.* at 716.

In concluding that Pozo could not challenge his conviction under § 971.31(10) because the evidence at issue was irrelevant to the charge to which he pled guilty, the court disagreed with Pozo's assertion that it was engaging in harmless-error analysis. See 198 Wis. 2d at 716. At the time, this disavowal was necessary because State v. Pounds, 176 Wis. 2d 315, 326, 500 N.W.2d 373 (Ct. App. 1993), held that "it would be contrary to present law to follow a harmless error analysis in sec. 971.31(10), Stats., situations." More recently, however, the supreme court has acknowledged that harmless-error analysis is appropriate in cases appealed under § 971.31(10). State v. Armstrong, 225 Wis. 2d 121, 122, 591 N.W.2d 604 (1999) (per curiam) (on motion for reconsideration). See also State v. Semrau, 2000 WI App 54, ¶ 21, 233 Wis. 2d 508, 608 N.W.2d 376 (citing Armstrong).

Similar to the situation in *Pozo*, here the evidence obtained during the strip search is irrelevant to Minett's conviction for delivering heroin on February 17, 2010. Pursuant to *Pozo*, even if this court were to find that the trial court erred in refusing to suppress the evidence obtained during the strip search of Minett, this would have no effect on the validity of his conviction on count one. Thus, the guilty-plea-waiver rule in § 971.31(10) does not apply to this count. Rather, regardless of how this court resolves the merits of Minett's suppression claim, his conviction and his fifteen-year bifurcated sentence on that count would still stand. III. THE SIGNIFICANT REDUCTION IN **EXPOSURE MINETT** ACHIEVED BY PLEADING GUILTY. AND THE FACT SUPPRESSION WOULD HAVE HAD VIRTUALLY NO IMPACT ON TWO OF THE COUNTS DISMISSED PURSUANT TO THE PLEA AGREEMENT, RENDER ANY ERROR IN DENYING THE **SUPPRESSION MOTION** HARMLESS WITH RESPECT TO COUNT FOUR.

Where a defendant pleads guilty following the denial of a motion to suppress, the test for harmless error on appeal is whether there is a reasonable probability that he would not have entered the plea agreement had the motion been granted. See Semrau, 233 Wis. 2d 508, ¶ 22. In answering this question, the court examines the following factors: 1) the relative strength and weakness of the State's case and defendant's case; 2) the persuasiveness of the challenged evidence; 3) the reasons, if any, the defendant gave for choosing to plead guilty; 4) the benefits the defendant obtained in exchange for the plea; and 5) the thoroughness of the plea colloquy. Id.

If the first and second factors are applied solely to Minett's conviction on count four – possession with intent to deliver five grams or less of cocaine as a repeat offender – then those factors would undercut a harmlesserror finding because the cocaine found during the strip search is the only evidence supporting that count. But in the context of multiple charges, some of which are dismissed pursuant to a plea agreement, logic dictates that the first and fourth factors must be analyzed with an eye to all of the counts charged against the defendant prior to the plea agreement being struck. In other words, the question should be how strong is the State's case overall, not just with respect to the charge underlying the defendant's plea and conviction. Here, Minett waived his right to a preliminary hearing (6), so the strength of the State's case and its persuasiveness must be evaluated based on the criminal complaint; an incident narrative prepared by Detective Uhl (26:3); and Uhl's testimony at the suppression hearing.

The complaint reveals that counts one, two and three were based on three controlled buys involving the same confidential informant (CI) on three separate days during February 2010 (2:1-3). As Detective Uhl explained at the September 23, 2010 motion hearing, a controlled buy involves giving an informant prerecorded money to buy drugs; equipping the informant with a body wire; and monitoring the informant during the drug transaction (66:13-14). Uhl testified that he observed text messages to and from Minett on the CI's cell phone, arranging the drug transactions (*id*.:22-24). This electronic information was available to corroborate the CI's testimony.

Additionally, in his incident narrative, Uhl indicated that Minett's cell phone contained over forty messages relating to possible drug sales, with some of the sent messages stating that he had forty-nine rocks and "3 gms of H" (26:3). Because the trial court denied Minett's motion to suppress the contents of his cell phone (*see* 36; 66:128-29), the State had available as evidence information obtained from Minett's phone that also would have corroborated the CI's testimony that Minett was a drug dealer who sold heroin to him on three occasions.

When all of the charges filed against Minett are considered as a whole, the first and second factors identified in *Semrau* support the view that any error in refusing to suppress the fruits of the strip search was harmless. The State had strong evidence incriminating Minett in three controlled buys, as well as evidence seized from his cell phone. Nothing in the record suggests that Minett had any plausible defense to the charges in counts one, two and three, even if the fruits of the strip search had been suppressed. The third factor mentioned in *Semrau*, 233 Wis. 2d 508,  $\P$  22 – the reasons expressed by the defendant for pleading guilty – is neutral inasmuch as Minett never stated on the record the reasons for his decision to enter guilty pleas to two of the charges.

The fourth Semrau factor - the benefits Minett obtained in exchange for his pleas - provides significant support for a harmless-error finding. Prior to entering the plea agreement, Minett faced a maximum exposure of 93.5 years on the five charged counts (see 7). In addition, he was subject to being charged with several felonies and a misdemeanor in two other drug cases referred to the district attorney's office. In referral number 08-01862, the Walworth County Sheriff's Department referred three cocaine delivery charges for prosecution, one committed on December 3, 2007; another on January 18, 2008; and the third on February 13, 2008 (69:13). In referral number 09-2580, the Whitewater Police Department referred charges of manufacture or delivery of heroin and possession of drug paraphernalia occurring October 11, 2009 (id.:14).

By pleading guilty to two counts in the information, Minett reduced his exposure on the charged crimes to thirty-three years, a sixty-year reduction from the original charges. He also escaped prosecution for four uncharged felonies and a misdemeanor,<sup>3</sup> a significant benefit in its own right.

In addition to the above charging concessions, Minett received sentencing concessions as part of the plea agreement. Specifically, the State agreed to recommend a prison sentence without arguing for a specific term length (69:2) and to recommend that Minett be found eligible for earned release (id.:3). The trial court followed the latter recommendation (72:69).

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Under Wis. Stat. § 961.573(1), possession of drug paraphernalia is a misdemeanor, while the other uncharged offenses are felonies.

The plea agreement Minett struck was even more favorable than the one in *Semrau*, which reduced the defendant's potential exposure by more than fifty percent. 233 Wis. 2d 508,  $\P$  25. Like Semrau, Minett at the plea hearing expressed no reservations about his willingness to plead guilty and has never claimed that the denial of his suppression motion prompted his pleas. In fact, at the plea hearing Minett confirmed that he had no doubt the State could prove him guilty of the two crimes to which he was entering pleas (69:7, 8). Under these circumstances, the fourth *Semrau* factor weighs heavily in favor of a harmless-error determination.

The thoroughness of the plea colloquy – the final factor identified in *Semrau* – also supports a harmless-error finding (*see* 69:3-15, 18-21).

Based on the factors found relevant in *Semrau*, any error in denying the motion to suppress the fruits of the strip search was harmless because there is no reasonable probability Minett would have insisted on going to trial had the suppression motion been granted. Even without the evidence discovered during the strip search, which formed the basis for counts four and five of the information, Minett faced a maximum potential sentence of 49.5 years on the three heroin delivery charges (counts one, two and three) and dozens of additional years on the uncharged crimes referred to the district attorney for prosecution.<sup>4</sup> By pleading guilty, Minett also received the prosecutor's agreement to forego specific а recommendation regarding sentence length and the prosecutor's recommendation that the trial court find Minett eligible for earned release.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Because the record does not reveal the weight of the controlled substances involved in the uncharged offenses, it is impossible to calculate Minett's exposure on the uncharged crimes that the prosecutor agreed to dismiss.

In short, even if this court finds that the trial court erred in refusing to suppress the fruits of the strip search, such error was harmless and should not result in a reversal of Minett's conviction on count four.

# IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING MINETT'S MOTION FOR RESENTENCING.

Minett advances two reasons for why he believes the trial court erroneously exercised its sentencing discretion. First, he claims the court failed to give sufficient weight to the mitigating factors of his acceptance of responsibility and his potential for rehabilitation. Minett's brief at 21. Second, he argues that his sentence was excessive because he "essentially received a maximum sentence on count one and the potential for a maximum sentence on count four." *Id.* at 22.

For the following reasons, neither argument is meritorious.

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